No. 34345-6-III

JUL - 3 2017

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

ASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STEPHEN KERR EUGSTER,

Appellant,

VS.

WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASSOCIATION, ET AL.

Respondents.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT UNDER WASH. CONSTITUTION ART. IV, SECTION 2(a) RAP 13.3(a), RAP 13.4(a)

Stephen Kerr Eugster Attorney for Appellant, Pro se

WSBA # 2003 2418 W Pacific Avenue Spokane, WA 99201-6422 (509) 624-5566 eugster@eugsterlaw.com

FACTS

Since the trial court dismissed the complaint pursuant to a motion to dismiss, we borrow from Stephen Eugster's complaint to prepare this statement of facts. The WSBA, like most other state bar associations, functions as an integrated bar. All active lawyers in the state of



Washington are members of and must pay dues to the WSBA. The WSBA, by direction of the Washington Supreme Court, administers the system to discipline lawyers who violate the attorney professional code of ethics. The Supreme Court reserves the final say in disciplining a member of the Washington State bar.

Page 6

In 2005, the WSBA investigated a lawyer disciplinary grievance filed against Stephen Eugster by a former elderly client, Marion Stead. After Stead terminated Eugster's services, Eugster filed a guardianship petition against Stead without any investigation as to her alleged incompetency. Eugster sought to appoint Stead's son as the guardian despite Stead having directed Eugster to remove her son from control over her affairs. In the process, Eugster disclosed to the son and others confidential communications between Eugster and Stead. Eugster refused to surrender papers and property to Stead and refused to deliver Stead's file to her new counsel. The WSBA Disciplinary Board recommended disbarment. The Washington Supreme Court, in a 5-4 decision, reversed the disbarment and instead suspended Eugster from the practice of law for eighteen months. In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Eugster, 166 Wn.2d 293, 209 P.3d 435 (2009). During the proceeding, Stephen Eugster never challenged the constitutionality of the WSBA attorney disciplinary system. Because of the many proceedings involving Stephen Eugster and the WSBA, we refer to the grievance filed by Marion Stead and the eventual Supreme Court decision as Eugster I.

During his eighteen-month suspension, the WSBA commenced *Eugster* II, an investigation of a grievance against Stephen Eugster filed by Mattie Kivett. In response to the second grievance, the WSBA eventually sent a letter to Eugster instructing him to analyze cases more thoroughly and concurrently dismissed the grievance. The WSBA

Page 7

gave notice to Eugster that he must avoid the grieved conduct and the WSBA would retain file documents concerning the complaint for five years.

On January 21, 2010, Stephen Eugster filed Eugster III, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington, a complaint under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 alleging that Washington's attorney discipline system violated his due process rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Eugster v. Washington State Bar Association, No. CV 09-357-SMM, 2010 WL 2926237 (E.D. Wash. July 23, 2010), aff'd, 474 Fed. App'x 624 (9th Cir. 2012). He named, as defendants, members of the Washington State Supreme Court, the WSBA, and members of the WSBA Board of Governors. Eugster requested that the court enjoin the defendants from continuing to operate Washington's attorney discipline system. He initially further requested that the court declare void the suspension imposed on him in Eugster I, but he withdrew the request before the defendants filed a motion to dismiss. The United States District Court dismissed Eugster III, without prejudice, for lack of standing because Eugster failed to demonstrate that he



suffered an actual or imminent injury in fact since he provided no evidence of any pending disciplinary proceeding against him.

Stephen Eugster appealed *Eugster* III to the United States Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. In an opinion shorter than our opinion, the federal appeals court affirmed the dismissal since Eugster did not allege he would ever again be subject to disciplinary

Page 8

proceedings. Eugster v. Washington State Bar Association, 474 Fed. App'x 624 (9th Cir. 2012).

On September 23, 2014, Cheryl Rampley filed *Eugster* IV, a lawyer disciplinary grievance with the WSBA against Stephen Eugster, the third grievance against Eugster. Rampley is the niece-in-law of Verdelle G. O'Neill, a client of Eugster. The WSBA sent notice of the grievance to Eugster on October 1, 2014. In response, Eugster sent voluminous records to the WSBA concerning his representation of O'Neill. He also wrote letters to respond to Rampley's allegations. On November 21, 2014, Kevin Bank, WSBA managing disciplinary counsel, relayed a letter to Eugster to inform him that the WSBA assigned Bank to complete the investigation. Eugster responded to further letters from Bank. A Christmas day 2014 letter from Eugster asked Bank to identify for Eugster his deficiencies so that Eugster could correct the wrongs.

On March 12, 2015, Stephen Eugster filed Eugster V, Eugster v. Washington State Bar Association, No. C15-0375-JLR, 2015 WL 5175722 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 3, 2015), aff'd, ____ F. App'x ____ (9th Cir. 2017), in the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington. He joined as defendants in the suit WSBA officials and all justices of the Washington Supreme Court. In the federal suit, Eugster challenged the constitutionality, under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, of compulsory membership in and payment of dues to Washington's

Page 9

integrated bar association. Eugster asked for judicial declarations permitting him to practice law without membership in the WSBA, freeing him from mandatory bar dues, and declaring the WSBA unconstitutional.

In our case on appeal, Stephen Eugster alleges that, despite being notified of the grievance filed by Cheryl Rampley in October 2014, the WSBA did not decide to commence an investigation based on the grievance until after his filing of Eugster V, his second federal lawsuit. According to Eugster, WSBA disciplinary counsel Vanessa Norman informed him of the investigation shortly after he filed the federal lawsuit. On April 3, 2015, Norman informed Eugster that the WSBA assigned her to conduct the investigation on Rampley's grievance. Then on April 21, 2015, defendant Francesca D'Angelo wrote to Eugster to inform him that the WSBA assigned her to investigate the grievance. Thereafter, Eugster responded



to more requests for information from the WSBA. Verdelle G. O'Neill died on August 18, 2015.

On September 3, 2015, the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington entered an order dismissing *Eugster* V. The court ruled that Stephen Eugster failed to state a claim under which he could receive relief because federal courts uphold the constitutionality of compulsory membership in and dues to bar associations. He also failed to state a claim on which he could receive relief with regard to the expenditure of funds by the WSBA, since the bar association allowed a *Keller* deduction. The district

Page 10

court dismissed the latter claim without prejudice to allow Eugster to amend the complaint to specifically allege misallocation of charges not permitted to be compulsory assessed. The court gave ten days for the amendment or else the court would also dismiss the claim with prejudice. The entire complaint against the WSBA was dismissed on the ground of Eleventh Amendment immunity, since a bar association is an arm of the state. Eugster v. Washington State Bar Association, No. C15-0375-JLR, 2015 WL 5175722 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 3, 2015). We suspect that Eugster did not amend the complaint. He filed an appeal with the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals on September 21, 2015. The Ninth Circuit has yet to issue a decision in Eugster V.

In his complaint on appeal, Stephen Eugster alleges that the WSBA, on November 3, 2015, sent him a letter informing him that disciplinary counsel intended to request a Disciplinary Board review committee to order review of Cheryl Rampley's complaint by a hearing officer. According to Eugster, the WSBA letter contained false statements concerning his conduct and failed to inform the Disciplinary Board of conflicting material statements. When Stephen Eugster filed this appeal, the WSBA had yet to commence formal disciplinary action against Eugster as a result of Cheryl Rampley's grievance.

Page 11

PROCEDURE

On November 9, 2015, Stephen Eugster initiated this lawsuit, *Eugster* VI, in state superior court, against the WSBA and three WSBA officials, Executive Director Paula Littlewood, Director of Office of Disciplinary Counsel Douglas Ende, and disciplinary counsel Francesca D'Angelo. Eugster alleges that the superior court has jurisdiction of *Eugster* VI under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Washington Constitution article IV, section 6, RCW 2.08.010, and chapter 7.24 RCW. The WSBA and its officials raise the same defenses and arguments. Therefore, we will collectively refer to the defendants as the WSBA. Because of the extensive and complicated claims and requests for relief asserted by Stephen Eugster, we supply many details of Eugster's causes of action and demands for relief.



Stephen Eugster's superior court complaint thoroughly outlines the structure and function of the WSBA and its disciplinary process. Eugster contends that the organizational structure creates inherent conflicts. According to Eugster, the WSBA's duties include advocating for him, yet it seeks to discipline him. Supreme Court members help to choose WSBA officials, and WSBA officials provide recommendations for appointments to the Supreme Court. WSBA officials vet disciplinary hearing officers and members of the WSBA Disciplinary Board, and then the hearing officers and Disciplinary Board review disciplinary grievances filed by the WSBA. Eugster

Page 12

complains that the WSBA principally handles grievances lodged against sole practitioners or members of small law firms. Hearing officers vary significantly in competence and some officers violate the rights of the accused lawyers. The Washington Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) violate procedural due process because in many instances the rules do not define what is permitted and not permitted. The Supreme Court unlawfully defers to decisions of the Disciplinary Board. In his complaint, Stephen Eugster alleges that the conduct of the Disciplinary Board lacks impartiality. He complains that the WSBA vets all members of the board before each member's appointment.

In the complaint in Eugster VI, Stephen Eugster alleges deprivation of his civil rights, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and negligence. Eugster identifies the civil rights violations as deprivation of procedural due process, both state and federal. He also claims that the WSBA unconstitutionally employed the discipline system to retaliate against him for bringing a federal lawsuit against it, and, thus, the WSBA violates his federal First Amendment rights. Finally, Eugster contends that the disciplinary system denies him of his right to petition the government for redress of violations of his state and United States constitutional rights. Eugster seeks a declaration that the WSBA disciplinary system is unconstitutional, an injunction against the WSBA disciplining him, damages, punitive damages, and reasonable attorney fees and costs.

Page 13

On December 23, 2015, Stephen Eugster filed a motion for voluntary dismissal of his complaint pursuant to CR 41(a)(1)(B). Presumably, the trial court never addressed the motion.

On January 22, 2016, the WSBA filed a motion, pursuant to CR 12(b), to dismiss Stephen Eugster's complaint. In the motion, WSBA argued that the superior court lacked jurisdiction, Eugster's claims are not justiciable because he lacks standing and the claims are not ripe, Eugster failed to state a claim on which relief can be granted, res judicata bars the claims, and the WSBA enjoys immunity.

On February 3, 2016, Stephen Eugster filed an amended complaint for declaratory judgment, injunction, and damages. The amended complaint repeated the description of



Washington State's integrated bar association and the alleged constitutional defects of the structure and processes of the bar and its disciplinary system. The amendment removed Eugster's intentional infliction of emotional distress claim, but reserved his negligence claim. A section of the amended complaint reads:

This action seeks damages from Defendants for negligence as a result of Defendants['] use of the Washington Lawyer Discipline System as applied to Plaintiff as retaliation against Plaintiff for bringing an action in Federal Court to asserting that Plaintiff's compelled membership and that such actions violates Eugster's right of petition of the government for a redress of grievances under the First and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to the United States Constitution, and Washington State Constitution Art. 1, Section 4.

Page 14

CP at 86-87 (emphasis added). The word "negligence" fits awkwardly in this paragraph, and we question if Stephen Eugster meant to allege a claim under common law negligence.

The gist of the amended complaint lies in its introduction:

This case concerns the civil rights of Plaintiff protected by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the First and Fifth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Washington State Constitution Art. I, Section 1 and Section 2. Plaintiff seeks declaratory judgments by the court declaring the WSBA Washington Lawyer Discipline System unconstitutional because (1) the Discipline System does not pass strict scrutiny and because (2) the Discipline System violates a lawyer's right to due process of law. Eugster seeks an injunction enjoining the Defendants or some of them, from application of the WSBA Washington Lawyer Discipline System to him, and in furtherance of the court's determinations that the Discipline System is

As to the foregoing, Eugster does not seek damages, or monetary relief from Defendants or any of them. However, Plaintiff does seek damages from some or all of the Defendants for compensatory or nominal damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for injuries to Plaintiff as a result of violations of Plaintiff's rights by Defendants or some of them under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 concerning the use by Defendants or some of them of the Discipline System to intimidate, harass and retaliate against Plaintiff for bringing an action in United States District Court, Western District of Washington in which Plaintiff asserts that under First and Fourteenth Amendments and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 his fundamental right not to associate with the WSBA is violated.

CP at 85. The amended complaint's prayer seeks the same relief as sought in the first complaint.



unconstitutional.

8

The trial court dismissed all claims of Stephen Eugster with prejudice. The court

Page 15

dismissed all claims for damages based on GR 12.3's grant of immunity to the WSBA and its employees. The court dismissed all constitutional claims and claims for declaratory judgment for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The court ruled that the Washington Supreme Court, under Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct (ELC) 2.1, possessed exclusive jurisdiction over the lawyer discipline system. The trial court reasoned that Eugster could have litigated his constitutional arguments before the state Supreme Court during his earlier discipline proceeding. Stephen Eugster appeals.

On September 23, 2016, after filing his opening and reply brief in this appeal, Stephen Eugster filed a statement of additional authorities. This court rejected the filing because of the statement's noncompliance with RAP 10.8. The additional authorities constituted copies of pleadings from the WSBA Office of Disciplinary Counsel's complaint against Eugster in Eugster IV for his conduct with regard to Verdelle O'Neill, including a formal complaint filed on June 16, 2016, after Eugster commenced this suit. RAP 10.8 serves to allow parties an opportunity to cite case authority decided after the completion of briefing. O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 183 Wn. App. 15, 23, 332 P.3d 1099 (2014). The rule does not grant permission to file additional documents.

This court scheduled the decisional conference of the reviewing panel for December 6, 2016. On December 14, 2016, Stephen Eugster filed a motion requesting that this court take judicial notice of documents, and he attached the same documents to

Page 16

his motion that he sought to bring to this court's attention by his statement of additional authorities. The documents include the WSBA's June 16, 2016 formal complaint in *Eugster* IV concerning Eugster's conduct toward Verdelle O'Neill; Eugster's answer, affirmative defenses, counterclaims and third-party claims; the WSBA's motion to strike Eugster's counterclaims and third-party complaint; Eugster's response to the WSBA's motion to strike; order on motion to strike; and discovery pleadings. In the order on motion to strike, the WSBA hearing examiner dismissed affirmative defenses, counterclaims, and third-party claims asserted by Eugster on the basis of alleged due process rights deprivations.

On January 9, 2017, Stephen Eugster filed with this court a second motion requesting that this court take judicial notice. Eugster's motion contends that the WSBA ended and a new association was born during the WSBA Board of Governors meeting, on September 29-30, 2016, when the board added limited practice officers and limited license legal technicians as members to the association. We address Eugster's motions seeking judicial notice at the conclusion of our opinion.

LAW AND ANALYSIS



-9-

9

We initially note uncertainty as to whether we examine Stephen Eugster's first complaint or his amended complaint. The trial court did not enter any order explicitly dismissing the original complaint or granting Eugster leave to file an amended complaint.

Page 17

The court's dismissal order expressly dismisses the "complaint," not the amended complaint, but the order also references review of the amended complaint, not the first complaint. We need not resolve this uncertainty since the result remains the same under either complaint.

Before addressing issues such as subject matter jurisdiction and res judicata, we identify the substantive claims asserted by Stephen Eugster. With his amended complaint, Eugster seeks damages, an injunction, and declaratory relief under the Washington Constitution and the federal statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1983. He may seek damages for negligence. On appeal, Eugster only assigns error to rulings with regard to his civil rights claims under the state and federal constitutions. Therefore, we do not address any claim for negligence. We temporarily focus on 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

42 U.S.C. § 1983, an often employed, but rarely quoted, statute reads:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress.

Section 1983 is not itself a source of substantive rights. *Graham v. Connor*, 490 U.S. 386, 393-94, 109 S. Ct. 1865, 104 L. Ed. 2d 443 (1989). Section 1983 only fulfills the procedural or remedial role of authorizing the assertion of a claim for relief. *Graham v*.

Page 18

Connor, 490 U.S. at 393-94. The pleader must also allege an independent substantive basis for his claim, whether grounded in a federal constitutional or a statutory right. Nabozny v. NCS Pearson, Inc., 270 F. Supp. 2d 1201, 1205 (D. Nev. 2003).

In his complaint, Stephen Eugster claims the WSBA violated his right to file a grievance and his right to free speech under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. Nevertheless, he forwards no argument on behalf of the First Amendment in his appellate brief, so we deem this cause of action abandoned. This court does not review issues not argued, briefed, or supported with citation to authority. RAP 10.3(a); Valente v. Bailey, 74 Wn.2d 857, 858, 447 P.2d 589 (1968); Avellaneda v. State, 167 Wn. App. 474, 485 n.5, 273 P.3d 477 (2012). Eugster asserts in his amended complaint and argues on appeal that the WSBA breached the due process clause found in the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. We focus on this claim.



Subject Matter Jurisdiction

We are compelled to first decide if the trial court, and, in turn, this reviewing court, holds subject matter jurisdiction over Stephen Eugster's complaint. We lack authority to address the other defenses of the WSBA if we lack subject matter jurisdiction. A court must have subject matter jurisdiction in order to decide a case. In re T.R.P., 360 N.C. 588, 636 S.E.2d 787, 790 (2006); Texas Association of Business v. Texas Air Control Board, 852 S.W.2d 440, 443 (Tex. 1993). Subject matter jurisdiction

Page 19

is the indispensable foundation on which valid judicial decisions rest, and, in its absence, a court has no power to act. State v. Sellers, _____ N.C. App. ____, 789 S.E.2d 459, 465 (2016). Nevertheless, a court always has jurisdiction to determine whether it has jurisdiction over a particular case. Schwartz v. State, 136 Haw. 258, 262-63, 361 P.3d 1161 (2015).

Stephen Eugster argues that the superior court has subject matter jurisdiction over his claims because a superior court possesses general jurisdiction and no constitutional provision or statute has exclusively vested jurisdiction elsewhere. The WSBA responds that article IV, section 1 of the Washington Constitution and state rule ELC 2.1 vest exclusive jurisdiction in the Washington Supreme Court for challenges to the lawyer disciplinary system.

A court possesses subject matter jurisdiction when it holds authority to adjudicate the type of controversy involved in the action. In re Marriage of McDermott, 175 Wn. App. 467, 480-81, 307 P.3d 717 (2013). Stephen Eugster bears the burden of proving the court has jurisdiction. Outsource Services Management, LLC v. Nooksack Business Corp., 172 Wn. App. 799, 807, 292 P.3d 147 (2013), aff d, 181 Wn.2d 272, 333 P.3d 380 (2014).

Since Stephen Eugster limited his suit to civil rights claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, we limit our review to determining if a state court of general jurisdiction holds

Page 20

subject matter jurisdiction over a § 1983 claim. We specifically review the issue of whether the Washington superior court holds subject matter jurisdiction to entertain due process challenges to the structure of, process of, and actions by the WSBA from an attorney previously subjected to the grievance process or presently scrutinized by the lawyer discipline process. This review demands distinguishing between challenging a ruling by the WSBA or Supreme Court, challenging a pending proceeding, and forwarding a general, as opposed to an applied, challenge to the attorney disciplinary rules.

The trial court's ruling failed to observe Stephen Eugster's complaint and amended complaint included claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. In other words, the complaint asserted claims under federal law, which enjoys supremacy over state law. U. S. CONS. art. VI, cl. 2. A state rule such as ELC 2.1, which vests exclusive jurisdiction in the Washington Supreme



Court for challenges to the lawyer disciplinary system, does not necessarily survive federal law dictates.

Under the Washington Constitution:

The judicial power of the state shall be vested in the supreme court, superior courts, justices of the peace, and such inferior courts as the legislature may provide.

WASH. CONST. art. IV, § 1. ELC 2.1, a section of the rules for enforcement of lawyer conduct, declares:

Page 21

The Washington Supreme Court has exclusive responsibility in the state to administer the lawyer discipline and disability system and has inherent power to maintain appropriate standards of professional conduct and to dispose of individual cases of lawyer discipline and disability. Persons carrying out the functions set forth in these rules act under the Supreme Court's authority.

Under these provisions, the power of the Washington Supreme Court, under state law, to regulate the practice of law is inviolate. Kommavongsa v. Haskell, 149 Wn.2d 288, 311, 67 P.3d 1068 (2003). The state Supreme Court holds the ultimate authority for attorney discipline in Washington. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Blanchard, 158 Wn.2d 317, 328, 144 P.3d 286 (2006). The court exercises plenary authority in attorney discipline matters. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against VanDerbeek, 153 Wn.2d 64, 80, 101 P.3d 88 (2004). In turn, by state Supreme Court rule, the Washington high court has delegated to the WSBA disciplinary counsel and Disciplinary Board duties with regard to investigation and review of disciplinary grievances. ELC 2.3, 2.8. The Supreme Court has delegated no duties to the superior courts. Hahn v. Boeing Co., 95 Wn.2d 28, 34, 621 P.2d 1263 (1980).

The Washington Constitution also addresses the jurisdiction of our superior courts, found in each county. WASH. CONST. art. IV, § 6 proclaims:

The superior court shall . . . have original jurisdiction in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court.

Page 22

Based on the state constitution, superior courts maintain general jurisdiction. Bour v. Johnson, 80 Wn. App. 643, 647, 910 P.2d 548 (1996). Exceptions to the superior court's broad jurisdictional grant must be narrowly construed. In re Marriage of McDermott, 175 Wn. App. at 481 (2013). Stephen Eugster seeks declaratory relief. Pursuant to RCW 7.24.010, a portion of the declaratory judgment chapter, superior courts "have power to declare rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed." As



previously mentioned, Eugster also sues for federal civil rights violations under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. State courts have concurrent jurisdiction with federal courts in actions brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Haywood v. Drown, 556 U.S. 729, 731, 129 S. Ct. 2108, 173 L. Ed. 2d 920 (2009); Robinson v. City of Seattle, 119 Wn.2d 34, 57, 830 P.2d 318 (1992).

If Stephen Eugster limited his challenge to Washington law or to the previous implementation of attorney discipline against him, we would hold that the superior court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Eugster's complaint. But since he asserts federal law and does not simply challenge past orders against him, we hold to the contrary. Two United States Supreme Court decisions, *District of Columbia Court of Appeals v. Feldman*, 460 U.S. 462, 103 S. Ct. 1303, 75 L. Ed. 2d 206 (1983) and *Haywood v. Drown*, 556 U.S. 729, compel our conclusion that the superior court and, in turn, this reviewing court possess subject matter jurisdiction.

Page 23

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