FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/2/2017 2:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94733-3

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STEPHEN KERR EUGSTER, Appellant,

V

WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASSOCIATION, et al. Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP

Paul J. Lawrence, wsba #13557 Jessica A. Skelton, wsba #36748 Taki V. Flevaris, wsba #42555

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101-3404 (206) 245-1700

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. This Court Need Not Appoint a Substitute Panel to Hear Eugster's Challenges to Routine, Settled Procedural Issues.

Eugster first argues that this Court should appoint substitute justices to hear this matter. Pet. at 1. But he identifies no valid basis for appointing substitute justices in this case. Eugster's Petition raises only issues relating to routine and settled principles of legal procedure, not issues that are personal to any justices of this Court.

Under the Washington Constitution, this Court is "empowered" to assign temporary judges when "necessary for the prompt and orderly administration of justice . . . ." Const. art. IV, § 2(a). As Eugster's own cited authorities demonstrate, such substitution is appropriate when an issue presents a significant personal conflict for a panel member, such as a direct financial or interpersonal interest. *See Yelle v. Kramer*, 83 Wn.2d 464, 465-466, 520 P.2d 927 (1974) (case required review of an appropriation bill that would increase the Justices' salaries); *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Sanders*, 135 Wn.2d 175, 178, 955 P.2d 369 (1998) (substitute panel required to review disciplinary proceeding against fellow Justice); *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Sanders*, 159 Wn.2d 517, 519, 145 P.3d 1208 (2006) (same).

Here, Eugster fails to explain how a substitute panel is necessary to the prompt and orderly administration of justice. He asserts only that the

justices of this Court have a conflict because his appeal raises issues of appellate jurisdiction. *See* Pet. at 2. Contrary to this assertion, Eugster's arguments regarding appellate jurisdiction involve only routine and settled procedural matters that do not pose a conflict for this Court. Specifically, Eugster challenges the Court of Appeals' decision to affirm on an alternative ground and its holding that res judicata barred his lawsuit. *See*, *e.g.*, Pet. at 8-9. These issues do not implicate any sort of personal conflict for the justices of this Court. Because there is no basis for appointment of a substitute panel, Eugster's Petition should be decided by this Court and without delay.

# B. Eugster Fails to Identify, Let Alone Demonstrate, Any Valid Basis for Discretionary Review.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, this Court will accept a petition for discretionary review "only" if the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals precedent, or if the decision involves a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). These are the sole bases upon which discretionary review will be granted. *Id*.

The party requesting review must not only state why review should be granted under one or more of the above grounds but also must support this assertion with argument. *See* RAP 13.4(c)(7). Eugster fails to

mention any of the grounds for discretionary review, let alone explain how any ground for review is satisfied. *See generally* Pet. Review should be denied for this reason alone. *See* RAP 13.4(c)(7); RAP 10.3(a)(6); *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (appellate court does not consider issues lacking reasoned argument).

Even if the Court proceeds to consider Eugster's Petition despite his failure to address the governing standards, it still should conclude that none of the bases for discretionary review are satisfied. First, the Court of Appeals' decision to affirm dismissal of Eugster's claims on the alternative ground of res judicata does not conflict with this Supreme Court or Court of Appeals precedent. Second, affirmance on an alternative ground, and the application of res judicata to claims that should have been previously raised, are routine procedural issues rather than significant constitutional questions warranting review by this Court. Third, review of this matter would only hinder rather than advance the public interest by wasting judicial and WSBA resources.

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision to Affirm on the Alternative Ground of Res Judicata Does Not Conflict with Precedent.

Eugster fails to identify any conflict with Supreme Court or published Court of Appeals precedent. Instead, Eugster merely asserts that the Court of Appeals was obligated to remand this case after it concluded the superior court had jurisdiction over his 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim. Pet. at 8, 11-12. But it is a well-established "general rule of appellate practice" in Washington that an appellate court may affirm a trial court ruling on "any theory," even if different from what was relied on by the trial court. *Sprague v. Sumitomo Forestry Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 751, 758, 709 P.2d 1200 (1985); *Nast v. Michels*, 107 Wn.2d 300, 308, 730 P.2d 54 (1986); *Hannum v. Friedt*, 88 Wn. App. 881, 889–90, 947 P.2d 760 (1997) (affirming dismissal for failure to state a claim even though trial court dismissed on basis of immunity).

Eugster ignores this precedent, and instead relies on RAP 12.2 and RAP 12.5 to argue that the Court of Appeals was required to remand. Pet. at 11-12. But these procedural rules do not support his contention. RAP 12.2 governs disposition on review and states that an "appellate court may reverse, affirm, or modify the decision being reviewed and *take any other action as the merits of the case and the interest of justice may require.*" (emphasis added). RAP 12.5 governs mandates and has no apparent relevance to this issue.

Eugster also argues that the Court of Appeals erred in determining that his lawsuit is barred under the res judicata doctrine. In particular, Eugster objects that his due process claim "was never decided" in his discipline proceeding. Pet. at 9, 15. As the Court of Appeals correctly

determined, however, res judicata bars litigation of issues that could and should have been litigated in prior proceedings but were not raised. Pet., App. at 21; Berschauer Phillips Constr. Co. v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 175 Wn. App. 222, 228, 308 P.3d 681 (2013); see also Sound Built Homes, Inc. v. Windermere Real Estate/S., Inc., 118 Wn. App. 617, 631 n.28, 72 P.3d 788 (2003) (noting res judicata applies "to every point which properly belonged to the subject of litigation, and which the parties, exercising reasonable diligence, might have brought forward at the time" (internal quotations omitted)). Constitutional challenges may be raised during the course of disciplinary proceedings. See In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Pfefer, 182 Wn.2d 716, 724-726, 344 P.3d 1200 (2015). Thus, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Eugster could and should have brought his due process challenge to the WSBA disciplinary system during his disciplinary proceeding in Eugster I is consistent with precedent. Pet., App. at 20-21.

In sum, Eugster does not identify any conflict with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals precedent to justify discretionary review. *See* Pet. at 10-14. Accordingly, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

# 2. Eugster Raises Settled Issues of Appellate Procedure and Preclusion, Not Significant Constitutional Questions.

Eugster's Petition also fails to present a significant question of constitutional law. The issues Eugster raises are routine civil procedural matters concerning the scope of appellate review and the proper application of res judicata, not constitutional issues. *See* Pet. at 8-9. Moreover, as explained above, these issues are settled, not significant. Accordingly, review also is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# 3. Eugster's Appeal Does Not Implicate a Substantial Public Interest.

This appeal would hinder, rather than promote, the public interest. Eugster does not present issues of importance to the general public or that raise vital opportunities or rights. Rather, he challenges routine procedural rulings concerning the scope of appellate review and the application of a preclusion principle.<sup>2</sup> Reviewing the Court of Appeals' procedural rulings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Eugster does not ask this Court to adjudicate his underlying due process claim on review. Regardless, that claim does not present a significant constitutional question. Under Washington's system, lawyers are afforded robust due process protections: attorneys are given notice and afforded the opportunity to respond; to develop facts; to raise arguments, objections, and motions; and to be represented by counsel. *See, e.g.*, ELC 10.1(a), 10.5, 10.8, 10.11, 10.12, 10.13, 11.9, 11.14. Attorneys are also afforded the ability to challenge hearing officers for good cause and an avenue for obtaining independent review before this Court, ensuring requisite impartiality. *See* ELC 10.2(b), 12.1, 12.3. With all these protections, Washington's system comports with minimum due process requirements, notwithstanding Eugster's conclusory assertions to the contrary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Even as to his underlying due process claim, Eugster's case lacks broad public importance. As this Court has previously stated, "the general public has little, if any direct interest in the [attorney discipline] process." *In re Disciplinary Proceedings against Starczewski*, 177 Wn.2d 771, 785, 306 P.3d 905 (2013) (differentiating between

would only waste judicial and WSBA resources reviewing settled issues of law.

Moreover, ultimately there are multiple grounds for dismissal in this case, including failure to state a claim, immunity, and lack of standing or ripeness. *See* Pet., App. at 3; *see also Eugster* II at \*8 (holding Eugster lacked standing where he was not seeking "redress for an actual or imminent injury"). There is no substantial public interest in accepting review of a matter where multiple grounds support its dismissal.

Accordingly, because Eugster has failed to identify an issue of substantial public interest in this case, review also is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

### V. CONCLUSION

Eugster has failed even to address the requisite grounds for discretionary review. Regardless, none of those grounds applies here. The Court of Appeals' decision to dismiss this case based on the alternative ground of res judicata is not in conflict with precedent, does not raise any significant constitutional questions, and does not implicate the public interest. For these reasons, the WSBA respectfully requests that the Court deny Eugster's Petition for Discretionary Review.

appearance of impropriety by prosecutor in criminal case versus by special counsel in attorney discipline case because attorneys have voluntarily subjected themselves to regulation under this system).

12